# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. 90,101; 85,404; 85,410

### RALEIGH PORTER,

Appellant,

۷.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0754773

TODD G. SCHER Chief Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0899641

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 1444 Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 202 Miami, FL 33132 (305) 377-7580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## INTRODUCTION

Raleigh Porter's capital trial, sentencing, and resentencing proceedings were

presided over by a judge who made the following comments during the evidentiary

hearing ordered by this Court:

[] I was questioned at one time about the death penalty, in fact, questioned a number of times about it. And I stated at that time -- they were saying, well, suppose that the judge that passed sentence had to actually put the man to death.

I said, fine. <u>I'll go along with that provided that as of the time I</u> say the magic words that I reach right down my left knee, come out with the pistol and shoot him right between the eyes. And they said, no, you couldn't do that. That would violate his civil rights. So therefore, I couldn't put him to death.

(H. 108-09) (emphasis added).

\* \* \*

[] I never walked into a courtroom at the time that I was a judge that I didn't have a gun. . . .

<u>I might as well just lay it out, but I sat in court with a sawed off</u> machine gun laying across my lap.

(H. 118) (emphasis added).

\* \* \*

I'll just lay this out for you. <u>I believe that if the same thing had</u> happened, that I would have killed Mr. Porter. Mr. Porter wouldn't have had to be put to death. But if he had done that to my family, I'd a [sic] killed him.

(H. 117) (emphasis added).

The lower court judge found that Judge Stanley's actions merely constituted

"idiosyncracies" (PC-R2. 343). Mr. Porter submits that Judge Stanley's actions

constituted a flagrant abuse of judicial authority and a blatant flaunting of the Canons of Judicial Ethics. Raleigh Porter is entitled to relief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Porter was arrested on August 22, 1978, for two counts of first-degree murder and related offenses in the Twentieth Judicial Circuit in and for Charlotte County, Florida. Judge Richard M. Stanley presided over Mr. Porter's trial. Due to the extensive amount of pretrial publicity, Mr. Porter sought a change of venue to a county outside the Twentieth Judicial Circuit (R. 20). The trial court granted the motion in part, moving venue to Glades County, another county in the same circuit (R. 175). Mr. Porter thereafter filed a second request for a venue change from Glades County due to adverse pretrial publicity in that county as well, and again requested a change to a county outside the Twentieth Judicial Circuit (R. 169). Following a hearing, see R. 253-57, Judge Stanley denied the motion (R. 172).

Trial commenced in Moore Haven on Tuesday, November 28, 1978, and the guilt phase verdict was returned by the jury on November 30, 1978 (R. 183). On December 1, 1978, the penalty phase was conducted in Moore Haven, at which time the jury returned two life recommendations. On December 11, 1978, the judge sentencing occurred before Judge Stanley in Punta Gorda, Charlotte County, at which time Judge Stanley overrode the life recommendations and publicly announced his decision to impose two sentences of death (R. 786).

On direct appeal, this Court remanded for a judge resentencing due to

2

<u>Gardner<sup>1</sup> error.</u> Porter v. State, 400 So. 2d 5 (1981). Resentencing was held before Judge Stanley on August 3, 1981. Judge Stanley again imposed the death sentence. On appeal, this Court affirmed the sentences of death. <u>Porter v. State</u>, 429 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1983).

On September 30, 1985, a death warrant was signed by Governor Graham. Mr. Porter filed a Rule 3.850 motion. The trial court denied all relief that same day, and this Court affirmed the summary denial of this motion as well as the request for a stay of execution. <u>Porter v. State</u>, 478 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1985).

Mr. Porter then filed a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida, which was summarily denied. On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals granted a stay of execution and remanded the case to the district court for an evidentiary hearing. <u>Porter v.</u> <u>Wainwright</u>, 805 F.2d 930 (11th Cir. 1986).

During the pendency of Mr. Porter's case in the federal district court, Mr. Porter filed a habeas petition in this Court, which was subsequently denied. <u>Porter v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 559 So. 2d 201 (Fla. 1990).

The federal district court denied all relief following the evidentiary hearing. <u>Porter v. Dugger</u>, 805 F. Supp. 941 (M.D. Fla. 1992). On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the denial of all relief. <u>Porter v. Singletary</u>, 14 F. 3d 554 (11th Cir. 1994), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 532 (1994).

On March 1, 1995, Governor Chiles signed Mr. Porter's second death warrant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 341 (1977).

On March 20, 1995, Mr. Porter filed a second Rule 3.850 motion. Argument on the motion was held before Judge Isaac Anderson on March 23, 1995. In addition to arguing the need for an evidentiary hearing on the claims alleged in the 3.850 motion, Mr. Porter's counsel also informed Judge Anderson that he had just learned that "the trial Judge had decided to impose death before the penalty phase had even occurred" (Transcript of Proceedings, 3/23/95, at 13). This argument was based on a newspaper article published that day, discussed in more detail <u>infra</u>. Later that afternoon, Judge Anderson summarily denied Mr. Porter's motion.

Mr. Porter's appellate brief<sup>2</sup> informed the Court in more detail of the new evidence that had developed since the March 23 hearing as a result of Judge Stanley's comments to the media:

Newly discovered evidence, comprised of facts which first came to light in a newspaper article published March 23, 1995, establish that Raleigh Porter was sentenced to death by a judge who was biased against him, and who harbored such a predisposed attitude to impose a death sentence in this case that he made up his mind to impose death even before the penalty phase proceeding was conducted. Mr. Porter's postconviction counsel have as expeditiously as possible investigated this claim since the publication of Judge Stanley's remarks on March 23, 1995. These facts only recently came to light and were not previously ascertainable. These remarks require an evidentiary hearing at this time.

\* \* \*

On Thursday, March 23, 1995, the Gainesville Sun, in an article concerning Mr. Porter's case, reported that Judge Stanley indicated that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The appeal was designated case number 85,410, which was the appeal that was eventually reopened by joint motion of the parties. The third case number in the instant case, 85,404, was assigned to the state habeas petition filed under warrant, and was also reopened by the Court's order of November 5, 1996.

he had made the decision to sentence Mr. Porter to death the moment the jury returned with the guilty verdict: "When the judgment was brought out by the jury that he [Raleigh Porter] was guilty, ... I knew in my own mind what the penalty should be, and I sentenced him to it." The Gainesville Sun, March 23, 1995, at 10A. Mr. Porter's postconviction counsel has also spoken to two reporters who have interviewed Judge Stanley during the past week. These reporters are Alan Judd with the Gainesville Sun and John Pancake with the Miami Herald. Counsel has been advised that Judge Stanley further stated that about the time of the Porter case, he was speaking at a public forum advocating the death penalty. During this public appearance, Judge Stanley expressed his view that he would be delighted to be able to personally carry out executions if he could pull his gun out of his boot and shoot the death-sentenced individual between the eyes.

\* \* \*

Here, Judge Stanley has now admitted in his media statements that he did not engage in a weighing process in 1981 since his decision to impose death was made in 1978. This evidence was not previously available. Collateral counsel cannot inquire of a judge's thought processes. <u>State v. Lewis</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S545, S546 (Fla. 1994). Counsel had no means to obtain the judge's admission of a predetermined death sentence until he voluntarily disclosed it to the media. However, Judge Stanley's admission now establishes that Rule 3.850 relief must issue in light of Mr. Porter's unconstitutional death sentence.

Summary Initial Brief on Appellant's Appeal from the Denial of his Motion for Fla. R.

Crim. P. 3.850 Relief and in Support of Appellant's Application for Stay of Execution,

Case No. 85,410, at 12; 14; 17 (footnotes omitted) (emphasis in original).

Oral argument was conducted before this Court on March 28, 1995. Following

the argument, counsel returned to their office and learned that Glades County Clerk

of Court Jerry Beck had called CCR while counsel were attending the oral argument.

One of Mr. Porter's attorneys, Todd Scher, returned Mr. Beck's telephone call.

Following the phone call, Mr. Porter filed a supplemental pleading with an affidavit

from Mr. Scher informing the Court of the information learned from Clerk Beck. Mr.

Scher's affidavit stated as follows:

1. I, Todd Scher, am an Assistant Capital Collateral Representative assigned to the case of Raleigh Porter. Today, March 28, 1995, our office received a phone call at approximately 11:18 a.m. from Jerry Beck, the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Glades County. Approximately 10 minutes later, I returned the call.

2. Mr. Beck informed me that he was the Clerk of Court at the time of Raleigh Porter's first-degree murder trial. Mr. Beck began the conversation by indicating that he had some information regarding Mr. Porter's case but he was not sure the information was pertinent so he was going to inform our office as well as the State Attorney's Office.

3. Mr. Beck related that he recalled that either before or during Mr. Porter's trial, which took place in Glades County, Judge Stanley came to the courthouse early one morning and stopped by the clerk's office. Mr. Beck and Judge Stanley sat down and had coffee together. During their conversation, Mr. Beck asked Judge Stanley why he had changed the venue in the Porter trial from Charlotte County to Glades County. Judge Stanley indicated that he moved the trial to Glades County because Glades County had people who would listen to the evidence and then would convict the son of a bitch. Then Judge Stanley said he would send Porter to the chair.

(Notice of Supplemental Information, March 28, 1995).

In addition to notifying the Court of the substance of Clerk Beck's statement to

Mr. Scher, Mr. Porter also filed a supplemental pleading informing the Court of a

MIAMI HERALD article appearing that morning in which Judge Stanley made additional

remarks:

The article supports Mr. Porter's appeal of the denial of Rule 3.850 relief and motion for stay of execution. The article reports of another interview with Judge Stanley concerning Raleigh Porter's death sentence. The article states, "The judge in the case, Richard M. Stanley of Naples, wasn't so sympathetic. And unbeknown to Porter's lawyers, he's already decided that Porter should die." The article also specifically quotes Judge Stanley regarding a debate with foes of capital punishment: They said to me, "Judge, suppose that they passed a law that said the man who passes the death sentence has to flip the switch on the electric chair?" I said to them, "Well, I will go along with that as long as they allow me, right after I pronounce the sentence, to reach down by my left leg and come up with my pistol and shoot 'em right between the eyes."

(Notice of Supplemental Authority, March 28, 1995).

Later that same day, this Court summarily affirmed the denial of relief, Porter

v. State, 653 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 1995), noting in a footnote only that it had "considered

the affidavit filed by Porter on March 28, 1995, as supplementing the record." Id. at

377-78 n. 2.

The following day, March 29, 1995, Mr. Porter filed a second federal habeas

petition. At that point, Mr. Porter had been able to supplement his allegations with an

affidavit of Clerk Beck, which provided:

1. My name is Jerry L. Beck and I am the Clerk of the Circuit and County Court for Glades County, Florida. I have been the Clerk here for more than eighteen years and I first took office in 1977.

2. In 1978, the trial of State vs. Raleigh Porter was held here in Glades County. The presiding judge, Richard Stanley from Charlotte County, either shortly before or during Mr. Porter's trial, came by the clerk's office early one morning and we sat down and had coffee together. I asked Judge Stanley why he had changed the venue from Charlotte to Glades County. Judge Stanley said that there had been a lot of publicity in the local area and that he moved the trial to Glades County because we had good, fair-minded people here who would listen and consider the evidence and then convict the son of a bitch. Then, Judge Stanley said, he would send Porter to the chair.

3. On Monday, March 27, 1995, representatives from the Office of the State Attorney came to my office to get copies of documents from the Porter case file. This was the first time I thought about this case in many years and it caused me to recall the comments that Judge Stanley made to me. Since I am not an attorney and did not know if Judge Stanley's statements were at all relevant to the present

disposition of the Porter case, I decided to come forward and reveal what I know. I called Chief Judge Thomas Reese to find out the proper way to make known this conversation. He said that if I was concerned I should contact both the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative and the Office of the State Attorney. I did so on Tuesday, March 28, 1995.

4. I had no reason for not coming forward earlier except that nothing occurred that caused me to recall the Judge's comments about the Porter case. I feel that it is up to the courts to decide the importance of this information, which is why I have come forward with what I remember. I am a firm believer in the death penalty and I am not interested in influencing this case in any way.

(PC-R2. 327).

The federal district court denied relief without an evidentiary hearing, finding the claim about Judge Stanley procedurally barred and that "whether the judge was predisposed to the death penalty is not relevant." <u>Porter v. Singletary</u>, No. 95-109-Civ-FtM-17D (Order, March 30, 1995, United States District Judge Elizabeth Kovachevich). On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals stayed Mr. Porter's execution, reversed the district court's findings with respect to the allegations about Judge Stanley, and remanded for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether cause and prejudice<sup>3</sup> defeated any procedural bar. <u>Porter v. Singletary</u>, 49 F. 3d 1483 (11th Cir. 1995).

In first addressing the State's claim that Mr. Porter's counsel lacked diligence in discovering this information, the Eleventh Circuit held as a matter of law that collateral counsel had no duty to investigate the impartiality of Judge Stanley in the manner suggested by the State:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See <u>Wainwright v. Sykes</u>, 433 U.S. 72 (1977).

In light of the Canons governing judicial conduct, we do not believe that an attorney conducting a reasonable investigation would consider it appropriate to question a judge, or the court personnel in the judge's court, about the judge's lack of impartiality. Canon 3(E)(1) requires a judge to sua sponte disqualify himself if his impartiality might reasonably be guestioned. The Commentary to Canon 3(E)(1) provides that a judge should disclose on the record information which the judge believes the parties or their lawyers might consider relevant to the question of disgualification. We conclude that both litigants and attorneys should be able to rely upon judges to comply with their own Canons of Ethics. A contrary rule would presume that litigants and counsel cannot rely upon an unbiased judiciary, and that counsel, in discharging their Sixth Amendment obligation to provide their clients effective professional assistance, must investigate the impartiality of the judges before whom they appear. Such investigations, of course, would undermine public confidence in the judiciary and hinder, if not disrupt, the judicial process -- all to the detriment of the fair administration of justice.

<u>ld</u>. at 1489.

The Court went on to hold that Mr. Porter was entitled to an evidentiary

hearing:

Thus, it appears from Porter's proffer that Judge Stanley made wholly unanticipated and unpredictable remarks to the Clerk of Court during the trial, and that he has recently made similarly unanticipated and unpredictable remarks to reporters. This is not a case involving merely an uncorroborated news report or rumor. Nor does this case involve a conclusory proffer of judicial bias. In this case, the proffer is that the person who was then and continues to be the Clerk of Court, an officer of the court, has come forward sua sponte with specific and ostensibly reliable evidence that the judge had a fixed predisposition to sentence this particular defendant to death if he were convicted by the jury. The proffer is supported by the sworn affidavit of the Clerk. We conclude that Porter has proffered sufficient evidence on the issue or whether he has established cause to surmount the abuse of the writ doctrine and the state procedural bar. Therefore, we must remand this case to the district court to inquire into whether Porter or his counsel, from time to time, had knowledge that Judge Stanley made the alleged comment to Clerk Beck, or whether Porter or his counsel had other similar knowledge to put them on notice of bias on the part of Judge Stanley.

If, on remand, Porter satisfies the cause standard of <u>Wainwright</u> <u>v. Sykes</u>, then he is entitled to an opportunity at an evidentiary hearing to prove the claim he has proffered -- that his sentencing judge lacked impartiality and violated his constitutional right to a fair and impartial tribunal.

Porter, 49 F. 3d at 1489-90.4

The Court distinguished the new proffers of evidence of lack of impartiality from the evidence that Mr. Porter had previously presented, namely, the fact that Judge Stanley wore brass knuckles and displayed a gun during Mr. Porter's judge sentencing, and the fact that the judgment and sentence indicating that Mr. Porter was to be sentenced to death was dated before the penalty phase. As to the brass knuckles and gun, the Eleventh Circuit noted that these issues "were readily explained by the State in the earlier proceedings as being the result of security precautions." Id. at 1488. Further, the sentencing order was "explained by the State as a clerical error." Id. The Eleventh Circuit held that "[t]hat evidence is not comparable at all to the evidence now proffered. Unlike the newly proffered evidence, it fell far short of overcoming the presumption of regularity and supporting a claim of judicial bias." Id.

After the State unsuccessfully sought to vacate of the stay in the United States Supreme Court, <u>Singletary v. Porter</u>, 514 U.S. 1048 (1995), the case was set for an evidentiary hearing on March 27, 1996 before United States District Court Magistrate George T. Swartz. Eleven (11) witnesses were called on behalf of Mr. Porter. Aside

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The Court further held that "[i]f Porter can prove that his sentencing judge lacked impartiality, we readily conclude Porter would also have satisfied the prejudice prong of <u>[Wainwright v.] Sykes</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 1490 n.13.

from Clerk Beck, these witnesses comprised the gamut of attorney and investigators that had worked on Mr. Porter's case since the original trial. The State did not call any witnesses.<sup>5</sup>

At the federal evidentiary hearing, Jerry Beck testified that he was and had been the elected Clerk of Court for Glades County, Florida, since 1977 (PC-R2. 159). In March of 1995, Mr. Beck contacted the CCR office as well as the State regarding Mr. Porter's case (PC-R2. 161); he then identified an affidavit he had executed on March 29, 1995, as well as an amended affidavit he had written with "a little clarification in my statement" (PC-R2. 163). However, the clarification did not address the substance of his statement with regard to the conversation with Judge Stanley (PC-R2. 163).

Mr. Beck explained that at the time of Mr. Porter's trial, which was conducted in Glades County, "Judge Stanley came in early for the trial, came in the clerk's office. I was the only one there at the time. I came in early, and I had coffee made and I invited him to have a cup of coffee, and we sit down at the table and had a cup of coffee" (PC-R2. 164). Mr. Beck then related the substance of the conversation:

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