IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RALEIGH PORTER,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 90,101

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Porter also argues that even if Mr. Beck made up the conversation or the conversation never took place a motion to disqualify Judge Stanley twenty years ago would have had to be granted. There is no need to speculate on what may or may not have been required under a hypothetical set of circumstances — especially concerning a conversation that did not take place.

At the conclusion of his findings and order Judge Anderson alludes to language in this Court's prior decision in Dragovich v. State, 492 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1986), and in an alternative ruling opines that if that language correctly stated Florida law it would be difficult to see how the allegations regarding Judge Stanley's alleged discussion with others about Porter's guilt would be legally sufficient to support a motion for post-conviction relief. The trial court's observation constitutes mere surplusage and dicta; it is understandable that Judge Anderson would note that if a judge's remarks would not suffice for disqualification prior to a trial court's presiding over a trial, obtaining collateral relief would seem more problematic. Thus, relief should be denied both as a matter of fact and of law. While appellee agrees that the facts presented in Dragovich and the instant case are distinguishable, Judge Stanley did not prejudge the Porter case "conversation" with Clerk Beck did not happen.

Mr. Porter is not entitled to a new sentencing proceeding.

Judge Stanley was impartial. Porter asserts that he should receive

a new resentencing retaining the benefit of the jury life recommendation. But this Court has previously recognized that the jury recommendation did not meet the standard of <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975):

Defense counsel's description of an electrocution might well have been calculated to influence the recommendation of a life sentence through emotional appeal.

Porter v. State, 429 So.2d 293, 296 (Fla. 1983)

And the jury did not have access to the Schapp deposition wherein he described Porter's intentions to steal a car and leave no witnesses. Id. at 296. As counterweight to the three aggravators found for this brutal beating - strangulation double homicide (HAC, homicide while engaged in a robbery for pecuniary gain and avoid arrest), the defense had proffered as mitigation Porter's age, being married with two children, lack of significant criminal history and employment history. This Court observed in footnote 2 of that opinion:

FN2. Porter was 22 years old at the time of Additionally, although Porter the crimes. had been married and had fathered 2 children, at the time of the crimes he was living with a woman other than his wife. At resentencing the trial court allowed Porter to put on more mitigating evidence. The court, therefore, did not restrict the presentation mitigating evidence, but merely found that the evidence presented carried little or no weight in mitigation.

Porter v. State, 429 So.2d 293,
FN2 (Fla. 1983)

The total absence of meaningful mitigation -- there was no mental health expert evidence to suggest that Porter's culpability should be lessened nor history of drug use as some capital defendants frequently urge -- renders the instant case comparable to Washington v. State, 653 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1995) wherein this Court approved the jury life recommendation override by Judge Schaeffer in a case that similarly presented information unavailable to the jury and only "inconsequential nonstatutory mitigating circumstances" such as close family ties and maternal support. Id. at 366. 12

Moreover, it is extremely odd that Judge Stanley, in appellant's view, would have the preconceived notion to impose the death penalty prior to trial, yet the record reflects that during the penalty phase Judge Stanley erroneously ruled to the detriment of the prosecutor and to the benefit of the defendant that the state could not introduce evidence of crimes to rebut the no significant history mitigator absent a showing of convictions (R 745-747, FSC Case No. 55,841). See Washington v. State, 362 So.2d 658, 666-667 (Fla. 1978); Booker v. State, 397 So.2d 910, 918 (Fla. 1981); Smith v. State, 407 So.2d 894, 901 (Fla. 1981).

Relief should be denied.

¹²Additionally both this Court and the federal courts have rejected Porter's assertions that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by the alleged failure to present other mitigation. Porter v. State, 478 So.2d 33, 35 (Fla. 1985); Porter v. Singletary, 14 F.3d 554, 556-560 (11th Cir. 1994).

ISSUE II

WHETHER JUDGE STANLEY'S DISQUALIFICATION WOULD HAVE BEEN REQUIRED HAD TRIAL COUNSEL KNOWN ABOUT BECK.

As determined by the lower court, Clerk Beck's story of a conversation with Judge Stanley -- who confided in him early in the trial (and who didn't know him) that he had changed venue to obtain a guilty verdict so that he could sentence him to death, a story controverted both by Judge Stanley and Nancy Raulerson and about which Mr. Beck remained curiously silent for seventeen years although he alternately stated that he didn't regard it as important yet couldn't live with himself if he didn't report it almost two decades later and who remembered the incident because of a conversation with State Attorney investigators which did not take place -- was not worthy of belief. Judge Stanley did not prejudge the case or tell Beck that he had.

In <u>Omar Blanco v. State</u>, 702 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1997), this Court rejected as procedurally barred a claim that the trial court erred in denying a motion to recuse the judge and noted in a footnote that if the Court were to address the motion for recusal on the merits it would find no error. It should make little sense for a jurisprudence to recognize a theory of retroactive recusal to undo a conviction and sentence where the evidentiary hearing to determine the existence of the alleged bias two decades after the

incident has resulted in a determination that the claim is meritless (even if a facially sufficient motion to recuse made contemporaneously might have succeeded where no proper vehicle permits the truth of the matter to be discerned at that time).

To allow a judgment entered twenty years earlier to be set aside because trial counsel might have filed a motion to disqualify based on an assertion that has been rejected would create untold mischief in the criminal justice system and easily permit dissatisfied litigants a ready vehicle to sabotage valid judgments.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN FAILING TO STRIKE HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF RON GAUSE.

At the evidentiary hearing, former state attorney investigator James R. Gause testified via telephone that he was in the office when the phone call came in from Jerry Beck on March 23, 1995. A few days later he went to the Glades County courthouse -- on March 27. He did not go there before that (Vol. IV, R 157-159). The files in a case are maintained in the county of original jurisdiction. On cross-examination Gause stated that his daybook or activity book reflected that he called Judge Stanley pursuant to prosecutor Fordham's request on March 23 and that he went to the Glades County courthouse on March 27 to look at records. He did not talk to Mr. Beck at the clerk's office on March 27 (Vol. IV, R 160-163). On redirect examination Gause stated that Fordham asked him to call Judge Stanley because Back had called (Vol. IV, R 164).

The defense moved to strike the testimony regarding Beck's calling on the 23rd because the witness was only relying on what Fordham told him (Vol. IV, R 164). The motion was denied and the defense called Fordham to testify (Vol. IV, R 165). Prosecutor Fordham testified that he received a phone call from Beck in the early afternoon hours of March 23; he had not read the newspaper article that day (Vol. IV, R 166). He did not recall asking Gause to do anything until he got the call from Beck (Vol. IV, R 169).

Mr. Beck had testified that he came forward with his information about his alleged conversation with Judge Stanley years earlier when in March of 1995 he received a phone call from his office that investigators with the State Attorney's office were looking for a case file in the Porter case and this incident jogged him memory (Vol. IV, R 17, R 22, R 25). Beck stated that the files were not kept in Glades County (Vol. IV, R 27).

Judge Anderson's order recites:

Beck states that the impetus for coming forward 17 years after the alleged conversation took place was a visit to his office by an investigator for the State Attorney's office on the eve of Porter's scheduled execution in 1995. Beck states that the investigator was looking for additional documentation when Porter was within 24 hours of execution and that this jogged Beck's memory. However, the State has proven to this that the visit Court by the investigator did not occur and, indeed, would not have occurred for two reasons. First, the Attorney (and his investigator) obviously knew where the file was located (Charlotte County), and second, there would be no need for the State Attorney to have looked for additional documentation in Glades County while Porter was under a death watch.

(Vol. II, R 340)

Appellant complains that Gause's testimony constituted inadmissible hearsay and was beyond the scope of his knowledge. Assuming, only arguendo, that Gause who did not speak to Beck but only acted in response to a directive from prosecutor Fordham, provided hearsay evidence Fordham testified to the matter, as the

defense suggested should be done (Vol. IV, R 165-170). Appellant did not seek further corrective action and presumably was satisfied as to its resolution in the lower court. No further judicial remedy was sought and the complaint now must be deemed barred. 13

¹³The only objection urged below as to Gause's testimony was with reference to Jerry Beck calling on March 23 because the witness had no knowledge of that, he was relying on what Mr. Fordham told him (Vol. IV, R 164). There was no objection to testimony about what caused him to call Judge Stanley; any complaint ab initio is untimely and barred. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990).

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISQUALIFIED FROM MR. PORTER'S CASE.

Following the federal district court's determination that Porter had established cause to surmount the abuse of the writ doctrine and the procedural bar of Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72, 53 L.Ed.2d 594 (1977) as mandated by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals in Porter v. Singletary, 49 F.3d 1483, 1489-1490 (11th Cir. 1995), this Court in its order of November 5, 1996 recited:

The Joint Motion to Reopen Case filed in the above causes is hereby granted and the trial court is directed to hold an evidentiary hearing and determine the impartiality of Judge Richard M. Stanley, Jr. as a basis for a new sentencing hearing pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

(Vol. I, R 1)

Porter sought to vacate the notice of hearing in the circuit court in part because of a pending motion in the Florida Supreme Court of a motion to disqualify the Twentieth Judicial Circuit (Vol. I, R 4-14). The state had filed in this Court its response in opposition to motion to disqualify Twentieth Judicial Circuit on or about November 18, 1996 arguing that the issue of credibility of witnesses former Judge Stanley and Clerk Jerry Beck would be an issue irrespective of where or to whom the case was assigned, that the passage of time and distance since retired Judge Stanley had sat on the bench and since Porter's 1978 trial would have dissipated whatever alleged taint present judicial officers in the

Twentieth Judicial Circuit may have been exposed to and the contention that Judge Reese would be a material witness was insignificant since Judge Reese had no personal information relating to the 1978 trial (Vol. I, R 18-20). 14

As this Court is aware, this Court on January 16, 1997 issued its order denying the Motion to Disqualify Twentieth Judicial Circuit.

Appellant now complains that the lower court gave deference to Judge Stanley, criticizes Judge Anderson's reference to Stanley's "idiosyncracies", asserts that Judge Anderson did not attempt to evaluate Stanley's testimony and disregarded Eleventh Circuit language to support Judge Stanley's First Amendment right to free speech.

Judge Anderson's order did evaluate the credibility of both witnesses, Clerk Beck and Judge Stanley. As to Beck -- and again as urged in Issue I, supra, the demeanor of live witnesses was alone observed by Judge Anderson -- the court found that his testimony "doesn't add up" (Vol. II, R 346). He claimed that Judge Stanley, whom he did not know, confided in him that he changed venue to secure a conviction and sentence Porter to death but could not recall anything else about the conversation. He did not

¹⁴At the evidentiary hearing the parties stipulated that Mr. Beck had contacted Judge Reese about the information he had to ask what he should do with it (Vol. IV, R 8). See also Vol. IV, Transcript of January 31, 1997 where the parties stipulated that Judge Reese told Beck to contact both the State Attorney's office and CCR with his information (p. 3).

mention it to anyone else for seventeen years, on the eve of an execution and testimony that he did not consider it important did not comport with ". . . common sense" (Vol. II, R 340). 15

In contrast, Judge Stanley recalled no incident drinking coffee with anyone in the back area of the clerk's office (Vol. IV, R. 97), was corroborated by the testimony of secretary Nancy Raulerson who accompanied Stanley to court that he was not absent from her presence in some other room in the courthouse at a time Beck claimed the conversation occurred (Vol. IV, R. 146), and Judge Stanley confirmed that he did not and would not have made the statement Back attributed to him before trial (Vol. IV, R. 122). Judge Stanley explained that you await the penalty phase before you make a final decision (Vol. IV, R. 102). He did not tell Beck before trial he would send Porter to the chair (Vol. IV, R. 124, 127).

With respect to Judge Stanley's "idiosyncracies" (e.g., carrying brass knuckles, carrying a gun, etc.) Judge Anderson noted that Stanley:

- 17. . . . provides context for these practices which this Court accepts as true and not determinative of any undue bias or partiality at the time Stanley sentenced Porter to death.
- 18. Specifically, Judge Stanley testified that in the late 70's and early 80's, no security was provided in courtroom proceedings

¹⁵This testimony also contrasts with Beck's assertion that he could not sleep at night and live with himself if he knew something about the proceedings without coming forward.

like that we enjoy today. Due to the prosecution of several high profile drug cases, and the assassination of an Assistant State Attorney in his own home, the Court adequately explained the reason why he carried brass knuckles, guns or other weapons into court.

(Vol II, R 342-343)

Appellant also asserts that Judge Anderson ignored the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals' comment that Canon 3B(9) of the Canons of Ethics requires a judge to make no public comment that might reasonably be expected to affect the outcome or fairness of a case pending or impending in any court. The provision is inapplicable in the instant case. At the time former Judge Stanley allegedly made statements to the media regarding his general capital punishment views he was not a judge — having retired from the bench in 1985 (Vol. IV, R 94) and retired from the practice of law in 1989 (Vol. IV, R 121). Appellant cites no authority for the proposition that the Code of Judicial Conduct continues to operate a decade after a citizen ceases to function as a judicial officer forcing all who have served in such capacity to forfeit forever their First Amendment rights.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN THE MANNER IT TOOK JUDICIAL NOTICE.

Appellant next complains that although he <u>twice</u> below acknowledged that there was no objection to the lower court's taking judicial notice of the court files in <u>State v. Avila</u> and <u>State v. McMunn</u> -- once during the evidentiary hearing and once afterward (Vol. IV, p. 155; Vol. IV, TR 4-6 of January 31, 1997 hearing) it was reversible error to glean inferences from the record to support his finding that there is some evidence to support the contention that Beck possesses a general bias against law enforcement, the State Attorney and the judiciary. Appellant has failed to preserve any complaint on appellate review of this matter by objection in the lower court. <u>See Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990).

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